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*1  PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The United States of America appeals from an order of the Hon. David N. Hurd, United States District Court for the Northern
District of New York, suppressing evidence found in a search of a vehicle shortly after it had entered the United States from
Canada. The district court's decision is reported at United States v. Wilson, 754 F. Supp. 2d 450 (N.D.N.Y. Dec. 8, 2010). The
government also appeals from the district court's order on reconsideration, on February 15, 2011, affirming its order suppressing
the evidence.

*2  STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an interlocutory appeal from the district court's order on December 8, 2010, suppressing evidence, and from the district

court's order on reconsideration on February 15, 2011, affirming its order of December 8th. A. 214, 254. 1  The United States
filed a timely notice of appeal on March 7, 2011. A. 5, Docket No. 37; A. 263.

The United States Attorney for the Northern District of New York has certified that this appeal is not taken for purpose of delay
and that the suppressed evidence is substantial proof of a material fact in the proceeding, A. 265, and the Solicitor General
has authorized this appeal. The district court had jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. § 3231, and this Court has jurisdiction under
18 U.S.C. § 3731.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the district court erred when it suppressed evidence found in the search of a vehicle minutes after it had
unlawfully entered the United States from Canada, and after officers observed a traffic violation, based upon the district court's
determination that the officers stopped the vehicle beyond the jurisdictional limits set by state law, and *3  without complying
with internal agency approval procedures.

2. Whether the facts found by the district court establish that the stop and search were lawful because the vehicle entered the
United States unlawfully, at an unmarked border crossing; police officers noticed that the license plate was obscured, in violation
of New York Vehicle and Traffic Law; and the information officers obtained following the stop, including the defendant's
admission that he was in Canada “to score” some marijuana and the fact that the registered owner of the vehicle had recently
been arrested with twenty pounds of marijuana, gave the officers probable cause to search the vehicle.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 10, 2010, a grand jury in the Northern District of New York returned an indictment charging defendant Eric Wilson
with possessing with the intent to distribute fifty kilograms or more of marijuana, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1). A. 6.
On March 17, 2010, he moved to suppress evidence obtained in a vehicle search. A. 7. The government filed an opposition on
April 8, 2010, A. 34, and the district court (Hurd, J.) held an evidentiary hearing on September 1, 2010. A. 64.

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=25USCAS232&originatingDoc=I5c22fbbbabbd11e0bff3854fb99771ed&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&pubNum=4476&cite=TDONO100-16&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&pubNum=4476&cite=TDONO8&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&pubNum=4476&cite=TDONO10&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000547&cite=19CFRS123.1&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_a83b000018c76
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000066&cite=NYCMS1.20&originatingDoc=I5c22fbbbabbd11e0bff3854fb99771ed&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000089&cite=NYIDS114&originatingDoc=I5c22fbbbabbd11e0bff3854fb99771ed&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000089&cite=NYIDS114&originatingDoc=I5c22fbbbabbd11e0bff3854fb99771ed&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000089&cite=NYIDS114&originatingDoc=I5c22fbbbabbd11e0bff3854fb99771ed&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000155&cite=NYVTS402&originatingDoc=I5c22fbbbabbd11e0bff3854fb99771ed&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2023981934&pubNum=4637&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=18USCAS3231&originatingDoc=I5c22fbbbabbd11e0bff3854fb99771ed&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=18USCAS3731&originatingDoc=I5c22fbbbabbd11e0bff3854fb99771ed&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=21USCAS841&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_7b9b000044381


FLETCHER MATTHEW 7/25/2012
For Educational Use Only

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Appellant, v. Eric C...., 2011 WL 2676850...

 © 2012 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 4

The district court granted the motion to suppress on December 8, 2010, in a Memorandum-Decision and *4  Order reported at
United States v. Wilson, 754 F. Supp. 2d 450. A. 214. The district court suppressed the evidence based upon its finding that the
officers stopped Wilson's vehicle beyond their jurisdiction, and that the cross-designated Customs Officer failed to comply with
the ICE approval procedures for the exercise of his authority as a Customs Officer. The government moved for reconsideration
arguing that, inter alia, under Virginia v. Moore, 553 U.S. 164 (2008), this did not invalidate the stop and search. A. 225.

On February 15, 2011, the district court granted the motion for reconsideration, and affirmed its decision suppressing the

evidence. A. 254. The government filed a timely notice of appeal on March 7, 2011. A. 5, docket no. 37. 2

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Motion To Suppress and The Opposition

In his motion to suppress, Wilson argued that the stop for an obstructed license plate under New York Vehicle & Traffic Law
was a pretext because Wilson's license plate was not obstructed; that the St. Regis Mohawk Police Department (SRMPD)
Officers did not have the authority to stop his vehicle after he drove *5  outside the Reservation; and that he was traveling in the
direction of the closest border crossing where he could report to the United States Customs Service when he was stopped. A. 7.

The government responded that the stop was a valid investigatory stop by a SRMPD officer who was a designated Customs
Officer under 19 U.S.C. § 1401(i), which led to probable cause to search the vehicle. A. 42-44. The government noted that the
officer had a reasonable suspicion that Wilson had illegally entered the United States, that he was unlawfully importing goods
into the United States and that he was driving a car with an obstructed license plate. A. 41-44. The government also argued
that the stop and search fell within the border exception to the Fourth Amendment because the stop occurred at the functional

equivalent of the border. A. 38-42. 3

*6  B. The Evidence From The Suppression Hearing 4

1. The Stop and Search

This case arises out of Wilson's trip from the United States into Canada and back through an unguarded and unmarked border
crossing on River Road on the St. Regis Mohawk Reservation in Northern New York. A. 216. The United States-Canadian
border divides the reservation into an American portion -- the St. Regis Mohawk Reservation -- and a Canadian portion -- the

Akwesasne Mohawk Reservation. A. 216 n. 2; see A. 63. 5  There is no United States port of entry on any of the roads from
Canada on the St. Regis Reservation. A. 96-98, 216 n. 2.

*7  On January 28, 2010, at approximately 9:00 a.m., SRMPD Officer Virginia Johnson saw a white male drive a green 2000
Pontiac Bonneville from the St. Regis Reservation into Canada on River Road. She alerted the Akwesasne Mohawk Police
Service (AMPS) in Quebec, who located the vehicle. AMPS officers saw the white male driver leave Quebec and reenter the

United States at the same location on River Road. A. 216. 2

SRMPD Detective Sergeant Matthew Rourke, who was monitoring radio traffic from his office in Hogansburg, New York,
heard the officers reporting their observations on the police radio. A. 216. It aroused his suspicion because most of the people
crossing into Canada on the Reservation are natives. A. 116. It was unusual for non-natives to travel to Canada that early in the
morning, and “non-natives are usually typically run for illegal activity.” Id. Sgt. Rourke and SRMPD Investigator Peter Barnes-
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Cooke “jumped into” Cooke's vehicle, A. 117, and found the Bonneville “within minutes” of hearing that it had reentered the

United States, A. 216. 6

*8  They first saw the vehicle stopped at Truck Stop Number Nine at the intersection of Cook Road and New York State Route
37 in Hogansburg, New York. A. 216. Within minutes, the vehicle pulled out to Route 37. A. 117. The officers followed the
vehicle a short distance on Route 37, but noticed that its rear license plate was obstructed by snow and debris. A. 216-17; see
A. 117. They followed the vehicle over a hill and, for their own safety, did not did not stop the car until it came to a flat landing
at the bottom. A. 117, 157.

After they stopped the vehicle, Inv. Barnes got out of the police car and dusted off the license plate. A. 217. Sgt. Rourke called
the SRMPD station to report the stop and read the plate to the dispatcher. Inv. Barnes then approached the driver's side window
and *9  asked the driver, Eric Wilson, for his driver's identification and registration. Inv. Barnes asked Wilson where he was
coming from and going and what he was doing. A. 217.

At the same time Sgt. Rourke approached the passenger's side window. A. 217. Wilson said that he was coming from his
residence in Saint Regis Falls, New York, and that he was heading to work for Phil Tarbell. The officers knew this was not
true, because the vehicle had just come from Canada, and Saint Regis Falls is approximately forty-five minutes southwest of
where they were stopped. A. 217.

Sgt. Rourke then called the ICE agent in charge and obtained his authority to continue with an inspection. A. 217; see A. 119-20.
Sgt. Rourke estimated that he made this phone call “within minutes of the stop,” A. 121, after they obtained Wilson's driver's
license and registration. A. 118-22.

The record check regarding the vehicle showed that it was registered to Phillip Tarbell, whom the officers knew had recently
been arrested near Watertown, New York, with about 20 pounds of marijuana. A. 217. Sgt. Rourke then approached Wilson for
a second interview. Sgt. Rourke again asked Wilson where he was coming from and Wilson again responded “St. Regis Falls.”
Detective Rourke said “what if I told you that you had been to Canada.” Wilson then admitted that he had been in Quebec. *10
Detective Rourke asked Wilson if he went there to “score a little,” and Wilson admitted that he went to a friend's house in Canada
to get a small amount of marijuana before going to work. Wilson also admitted that he had a marijuana pipe on him. A. 217.

At this time United States Border Patrol Agent Chamberlain, who was on patrol that morning and had been listening to the
Mohawk Tribal Police radio, arrived at the scene. A. 218. When Agent Chamberlain heard that the Bonneville had entered the
United States from Canada, he drove straight toward the Reservation to stop the vehicle. A. 173. The SRMPD officers had,
however, stopped the vehicle by the time he arrived. Id.

Agent Chamberlain then interviewed Wilson, who acknowledged that he had been to Canada. A. 218. Agent Chamberlain told
Wilson that he was going to conduct a Title 19 customs search of the vehicle. When Agent Chamberlain asked Wilson whether
there was anything in the vehicle that might be illegal, Wilson got “pretty nervous,” and said that he had a marijuana pipe. A.
176, 218. Agent Chamberlain then asked Wilson to step out of his car. A. 218.

Inv. Barnes assisted Agent Chamberlain in the search. A. 218. Inside the trunk of the car the officers found three large hockey
bags with a total of 124.544 pounds of marijuana. A. 218. Detective Rourke then placed Wilson under arrest. A. 127. Agent
*11  Chamberlain drove Wilson to the SRMPD Station on Route 37, where ICE Special Agent Whitling was waiting. A. 177.

2. The Location of the Stop

For the purpose of this appeal, the government assumes that the stop occurred outside the Reservation. The district court found
it undisputed that the stop occurred “outside the legal boundary of the St. Regis Reservation.” A. 218. This was based on the
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parties' pleadings, which stated that the stop occurred outside the Reservation. A. 10-11, 36. See also A. 33 (1964 United States

Geological Survey map showing area in which stop occurred, known as the “Bombay Triangle,” outside the Reservation). 7

Since the filing of this appeal, the government has learned that the Bombay Triangle was reserved for the St. Regis Mohawk in
the Treaty with the Seven Nations of Canada. 7 Stat. 55 (1796), as part of the Reservation. A federal land claim lawsuit is pending
in the Northern District of New York regarding, inter alia, whether certain lands in the Bombay Triangle were unlawfully
acquired in violation of the Indian Trade and Intercourse Act, 25 U.S.C. § 177. The *12  United States has intervened in the
land claim litigation as a plaintiff. Although the allegations in the land claim dispute are disputed, “no matter what happens to
the title of the individual plots within the area, the entire block retains its reservation status until Congress explicitly indicates
otherwise.” Solem v. Bartlett, 465 U.S. 263, 270 (1984). Since the United States is not aware of any evidence that Congress has

altered the Reservation boundaries, the government disagrees that the stop occurred off the Reservation. 8

*13  However, assuming for the purpose of this appeal, that the Reservation only extends to the boundary applied by the district

court, the evidence established the following. The stop was approximately 5,000 feet from the Reservation. A.145. 9  The road
on which the stop occurred, Route 37, travels on and off the Reservation; the officers stopped the vehicle in the approximately

one-mile stretch on Route 37 that is off of the Reservation. A. 133-36. 10  The SRMPD enforces this area with the consent of
the New York State Police. A. 137.

3. The ICE Designation And Approval Requirements

Sgt. Rourke has been a designated Customs Officer under 19 U.S.C. § 1401(i) since February 28, 2008. 11  A. 46. Sgt. Rourke's
authorized duties *14  included: making arrests for offenses against the United States; executing warrants in accordance with
laws administered or enforced by ICE; and making seizures of property in accordance with such laws. The designation form
stated: “Prior to the examination or search of any aircraft, vehicle, vessel or cargo, the appropriate Special Agent in Charge or
Resident Special Agent in Charge, will be contacted and advised of the nature of the activity.” Id.

A Memorandum of Understanding between ICE and the St. Regis Mohawk Tribal Police states that “ICE designations . . .
will be used only in situations where there has been specific advance approval by the appropriate Special Agent in Charge or
Resident Agent in Charge.” A. 62. This is consistent with an internal ICE policy that the use of designated authority “without
first having been coordinated and approved by the appropriate SAC [Special Agent In Charge] is strictly prohibited.” A. 58. The
Memorandum of Understanding and ICE policy are internal agency documents. Each expressly states that it “does not create”
“any rights, privileges or benefits” for any party. A. 61-62.

Sgt. Rourke testified that he called the ICE agent in charge and obtained his permission to continue with an inspection after
they obtained Wilson's driver's license and registration, “within minutes of the stop.” A. 121. The ICE agent involved in this
investigation, Special Agent Jeramy Whitling, was at the SRMPD *15  office within approximately twenty minutes of the stop
and arrest. A. 81. Agent Whitling was there when the officers arrived with Wilson. A. 177. Agent Whitling testified that Sgt.
Rourke's actions were consistent with the memorandum of understanding and practice by the local ICE office. A. 82.

C. The District Court's Decision

The district court concluded that the evidence seized from the Bonneville must be suppressed because the SRMPD officers did
not have the authority to conduct the stop off of the Reservation. A. 218-19.
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The district court refused to consider whether the stop was a lawful stop by a customs officer because Sgt Rourke did not have
ICE's prior approval to make the stop. A. 219. The court found that the designation form required Sgt. Rourke to obtain ICE's
approval before acting under his Title 19 authority. Since Sgt. Rourke and Inv. Barnes did not have ICE's prior approval to
stop Wilson's car, the court concluded that “Sgt. Rourke and Inv. Barnes were not acting as customs officers at the time of
the stop.” Id.

The district court also refused to consider whether there was reasonable suspicion to make a Terry 12  stop. A. 222. The court
found “no need” to consider this because “as SRMPD officers, Sgt. Rourke and Inv. *16  Barnes did not have authority to
conduct a Terry stop outside of the boundary of the St. Regis reservation.” Id. The district court acknowledged the caselaw
cited by the government, holding that an extraterritorial arrest did not violate the Fourth Amendment, but cited to other contrary

authorities, all of which were decided prior to the Supreme Court's decision in Moore. A. 221. 13

The district court found that the officers were not authorized to make the stop under New York Indian Law 114(8), which
authorizes tribal police officers, if they are in “close pursuit” of an individual for whom they have the authority to arrest on the
Reservation, to make the arrest outside the Reservation. A. 219-20.

Finally, the district court rejected the government's argument that the evidence was admissible under the inevitable discovery
exception because Border Patrol Agent Chamberlain was en route, and arrived shortly after the stop. A. 222-23. The district
court found that there were “a variety of factors out of Agent Chamberlain's control that could have intervened and prevented
him from even locating the vehicle, let alone guarantee the stop and search of the vehicle.” A. 223. The court therefore granted
Wilson's motion and suppressed the marijuana. A. 223-24

*17  The government moved for reconsideration requesting, inter alia, that the court reconsider its decision in light of Virginia
v. Moore, 553 U.S. 164 (2008). A. 226. The government argued that, following Moore, a stop without prior ICE approval and
outside the officers' jurisdiction did not violate the Fourth Amendment. A. 226, 229-32.

The district court granted the motion to reconsider but, upon reconsideration affirmed its prior order. A. 254. The court found
that Moore was distinguishable because in Moore the officers had probable cause to believe that the defendant committed a
crime in their presence. A. 259. The court also found Moore

distinguishable because the officers in that case had the authority to conduct the initial stop but later violated Florida law by
arresting the defendant instead of issuing a summons. By contrast, Sgt. Rourke and Inv. Barnes were without jurisdiction when
they conducted the stop off the St. Regis reservation and had no authority as police officers at the time of the stop.

Id. The district court concluded that “Moore is not inconsistent” with its prior decision. Id.

*18  SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred in suppressing the evidence that was found in a lawful search. The tribal police officers had probable
cause to stop Wilson's vehicle for an obstructed license plate in violation of NY Vehicle & Traffic Law § 402(1)(b), and stopping
the vehicle shortly outside the Reservation did not render the stop unconstitutional. Moreover, Sgt. Rourke was a customs officer,
who had reasonable suspicion that the vehicle had entered the country illegally, and was bringing in merchandise unlawfully,
through a point other than a port of entry. Any failure to comply with internal agency procedures for obtaining ICE's permission
prior to the stop did not render the stop unconstitutional. Since the officers quickly developed probable cause to search the
vehicle, the search was lawful and there is no basis to suppress the hockey bags of marijuana they found in a search of the trunk.

*19  ARGUMENT
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The Court Erred In Relying On A State Statute Setting The Jurisdictional Limitations Of Tribal Police Officers
And An Internal Memorandum Of Understanding Between ICE And The Tribal Police As A Basis For Suppressing
Evidence Obtained Following A Lawful Vehicle Stop.

A. Standard of Review

“On appeal from a district court's grant of a motion to suppress, [this Court] review[s] factual findings for clear error, viewing
those facts in the light most favorable to the government, and [it] analyze[s] de novo the ultimate determination of such legal
issues as probable cause.” United States v. Howard, 489 F.3d 484, 490-491 (2d Cir. 2007) (citations and internal quotation
marks omitted).

B. Governing Law

1. A Lawful Vehicle Stop

A lawful stop of a vehicle requires “probable cause or reasonable suspicion that the person stopped has committed a traffic
violation or is otherwise engaged in or about to be engaged in criminal activity.” United States v. Harrison, 606 F.3d 42, 45
(2d Cir. 2010) (quoting *20  United States v. Stewart, 551 F.3d 187, 191 (2d Cir. 2009)); see also Arizona v. Johnson, 555
U.S. 323, ___, 129 S. Ct. 781, 784 (2009).

The events following a lawful stop of a vehicle may “convert[ ] the initial reasonable suspicion into probable cause to search the
vehicle.” United States v. McGlory, 968 F.2d 309, 343 (3d Cir. 1992); see United States v. Medina-Gasca, 739 F.2d 1451, 1453
(9th Cir. 1984) (“[S]uspicion to stop for investigatory detention may ripen into probable cause to arrest through the occurrence
of facts or incidents after the stop.”); United States v. Vasquez, 638 F.2d 507, 523-24 (2d Cir. 1980) (same).

“[P]robable cause to search is demonstrated where the totality of circumstances indicates a ‘fair probability that contraband
or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.’ ” United States v. Clark, 638 F.3d 89, 94 (2d Cir. 2011) (quoting
Walczyk v. Rio, 496 F.3d 139, 156 (2d Cir. 2007) and Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983)).

2. Vehicle Entries Into The United States

The law governing vehicle entries into the United States is set forth in 19 U.S.C. § 1433(b). This section provides:

*21  (1) Vehicles may arrive in the United States only at border crossing points designated by the Secretary. 14

(2) Except as otherwise authorized by the Secretary, immediately upon the arrival of any vehicle in the United States at a border
crossing point, the person in charge of the vehicle shall --

(A) report the arrival; and

(B) present the vehicle, and all persons and merchandise (including baggage) on board, for inspection.

Section 1436(a) makes it unlawful to fail to comply with § 1433. A person in charge of a vehicle who fails to comply with §

1433 is liable for a civil penalty under § 1436(b) and, if the violation was intentional, a criminal penalty under § 1436(c). 15

*22  3. New York Indian Law § 114

New York Indian Law § 114, governing the St. Regis Mohawk tribal police, authorizes the superintendent of the state police to
appoint a police officer, upon application of the St. Regis Mohawk tribal council, “with all powers provided for in the criminal
procedure law, except for those powers specifically excepted by this section, for the preservation of order and of the public
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peace, and the arrest of all persons committing offenses upon the St. Regis Mohawk tribal reservation.” N.Y. Indian Law §
114(2). Persons appointed tribal police officers under § 114 are “police officers” under New York Criminal *23  Procedure

Law. See N.Y. Crim. Proc. Law § 1.20(34)(u). 16

The provision applied by the district court, § 114(8), states:

A person appointed a police officer under this section shall only be permitted to exercise the duties or functions
of a police officer within the county of Franklin, and within that county, only within the boundary of the St.
Regis reservation; except that such officer may follow a person for whom he or she has the authority to arrest
on the reservation in continuous close pursuit, commencing on the reservation, in and through any county of the
state, and may arrest such person in any county in which the officer apprehends him or her.

C. Discussion

The facts found by the district court demonstrate that the officers conducted a lawful stop and search and, as set forth below, the

district court's rationale for *24  suppressing the evidence is precluded by Moore. 17  The district court's order should therefore
be reversed.

1. The Officers Made A Lawful Stop With Probable Cause Of A Vehicle And Traffic Code Violation, And Reasonable
Suspicion Of An Unlawful Entry And Smuggling.

In this case, the officers' observation that the rear license plate was obstructed by snow and road debris, *25  in violation

of N.Y. Veh. & Traf. Law § 402(1)(b), 18  (A. 216-17), constituted probable cause that Wilson committed a traffic violation,

constituting a lawful basis for the stop. See, e.g., Harrison, 606 F.3d at 45; Stewart, 551 F.3d at 191. 19

Although Sgt. Rourke directed Inv. Barnes to stop the vehicle under his customs-search authority, A. 154, 157-58, the
constitutional reasonableness of the stop depends on the objective basis for the stop, not the officers' subjective motivations.
See Ashcroft v. al-Kidd, ___ U.S. ___, 131 S. Ct. 2074, 2080 (2011) (In assessing Fourth Amendment reasonableness “[w]e ask
whether ‘the circumstances, viewed objectively, justify [the challenged] action.’ . . . If so, that action was reasonable ‘whatever
the subjective intent’ motivating *26  the relevant officials.”) (citations and internal quotations omitted; bracket in original);
Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 814 (1996) (refusing to look behind objectively reasonable traffic stop to determine
whether officers were motivated by racial profiling or intent to investigate other potential crimes).

Moreover, the officers had a reasonable suspicion that Wilson unlawfully entered the United States on River Road, not at a
Port of Entry, in violation of 19 U.S.C. § 1433 and 1436; and that having entered the United States unlawfully, Wilson was
bringing in merchandise contrary to law, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 545 and 19 U.S.C. § 1433(b)(2)(B); see A. 83-85 (testimony
from Agent Whitling that Wilson's entry at a point other than a designated port of entry was illegal). In United States v. Doyle,
129 F.3d 1372, 1376 (10th Cir. 1997), for example, the Tenth Circuit upheld an investigatory stop of a vehicle based upon
reasonable suspicion that it had triggered a sensor on a dirt road that crossed the United States-Mexican border three miles west
of a point of entry, thereby entering the country unlawfully. “Since an intrusion into the United States at a location other than an
authorized checkpoint is unlawful regardless of its underlying purpose, [the agent] did not need to suspect that [the defendant]
was transporting illegal aliens in order to justify the investigatory stop of his car.” Id.

*27  Here, in addition, the officers knew that Wilson was a non-native who had just made a quick trip to Canada through the
reservation; most people traveling to Canada on the reservation are natives; it was unusual to see a non-native crossing that
early in the morning; and “non-natives are usually typically run for illegal activity.” A. 115-16. They clearly had reasonable
suspicion to stop the vehicle. The district court appeared to agree. See e.g., A. 223 (noting that “Wilson's exit from and reentry
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to the United States within a short time frame coupled with the officers' knowledge of drug trafficking behavior in the area may
have been enough to establish reasonable suspicion to justify a Terry stop”).

Finally, the reasonable suspicion to stop Wilson's vehicle ripened into probable cause to search it. The fact that the registered
owner of the vehicle had recently been arrested with 20 pounds of marijuana; that Wilson first falsely told the officers he had
come from his residence 45 minutes southwest of the stop; and then admitted that he had traveled to Canada “to score” a little
marijuana; and had a marijuana pipe gave the officers probable cause that the vehicle contained evidence of contraband and a
basis to search the vehicle under the automobile exception to the warrant requirement. A. 217-18; See, e.g., United States v.
Navas, 597 F.3d 492, 497 (2d Cir. 2010).

*28  2. Even If The Stop Occurred Outside The Reservation And Without The Prior Approval Of ICE, That Would
Not Render The Stop Unconstitutional.

The Fourth Amendment protects “ ‘against unreasonable searches and seizures' of . . . the person.” Moore, 553 U.S. at 168.
The Fourth Amendment does not incorporate additional state law or agency procedures or requirements. See Moore, 553 U.S.
at 171-76. In Moore, for example, the defendant claimed that his arrest for driving on a suspended license violated the Fourth
Amendment because under Virginia law the officers were authorized only to issue a summons for this misdemeanor offense.
The Court rejected the defendant's attempt to incorporate state law arrest limitations into the Constitution.

We conclude that warrantless arrests for crimes committed in the presence of an arresting officer are reasonable
under the Constitution, and that while States are free to regulate such arrests however they desire, state restrictions
do not alter the Fourth Amendment's protections.

Moore, 553 U.S. at 176.

Following Moore, it is clear that a stop is not rendered invalid because it occurred beyond an officer's jurisdictional limits under
state law. See, e.g., *29  United States v. Sed, 601 F.3d 224, 227-29 (3d Cir.) (holding that stop and arrest by Pennsylvania
State Police in Ohio, outside of their territorial jurisdiction and in violation of Ohio law, did not violate Fourth Amendment;
“[i]n light of Moore [the defendant] is plainly wrong” when he argues that the extraterritorial arrest was per se unreasonable
under the Fourth Amendment), cert. denied, ___ U.S. ___, 131 S. Ct. 230 (2010); United States v. Goings, 573 F.3d 1141, 1143
(11th Cir. 2009) (upholding arrest over the defendant's claim that Georgia law enforcement officers did not have the authority
to arrest him in Florida; “under the Supreme Court's decision in Moore, it was irrelevant for purposes of the Fourth Amendment
whether [the defendant's] arrest violated state law, so long as it was supported by probable cause”); Rose v. City of Mulberry,
533 F.3d 678, 680 (8th Cir. 2008) (upholding arrest by city police officer that was made outside of his jurisdiction and without
authority under state law; “because he had probable cause to arrest . . . no Fourth Amendment violation occurred”); United
States v. Gonzales, 535 F.3d 1174, 1182-83 (10th Cir. 2008) (upholding traffic stop by police officers for a traffic infraction,
outside of their jurisdiction and beyond their authority under Colorado law; there was no Fourth Amendment violation because
the stop was based on an observed traffic violation); United States v. Benitez, 531 F.3d 711, 715 (8th Cir. 2008) (noting that
even if police officer did not have the authority to pursue, and ultimately stop, a speeding vehicle beyond *30  his territorial
jurisdiction, Moore forecloses his challenge to the stop).

Similarly, an officer's failure to comply with an inter-agency memorandum of understanding does not render invalid an
otherwise lawful stop. As the Supreme Court noted in Moore.

We thought it obvious that the Fourth Amendment's meaning did not change with local law enforcement practices--even
practices set by rule. While those practices “vary from place to place and from time to time,” Fourth Amendment protections
are not “so variable” and cannot “be made to turn upon such trivialities.”
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Moore, 553 U.S. at 172 (quoting Whren, 517 U.S. at 815); see, e.g., Whren, 517 U.S. at 815 (upholding a traffic stop based upon
a traffic violation, in a case where the stop violated police regulations limiting the authority of plainclothes officers in unmarked
cars to enforce traffic laws); United States v. Guzman-Padilla, 573 F.3d 865, 890 (9th Cir. 2009) (“It is well-settled that the scope
of the Fourth Amendment's protections is not to be measured by reference to agency guidelines and other extra-constitutional
matter.”), cert. denied, ___ U.S. ___, 131 S. Ct. 67 (2010); United States v. Felipe, 148 F.3d 101, 108 (2d Cir. 1998) (upholding
admissibility of inmate's mail intercepted at prison; even if the prison violated Postal Service regulations *31  regarding mail
covers, “suppression is not an available remedy for violations of agency regulations that fail to raise constitutional questions”).

CONCLUSION

Since the facts found by the district court establish that the officers conducted a lawful stop that ripened into probable cause
to search, the district court's order suppressing the marijuana seized from Wilson's vehicle should be reversed, and the case
should be remanded for trial.

Footnotes
1 “A” refers to the Joint Appendix filed by the government.

2 A corrected notice of appeal was filed the next day, on March 8, 2010. A. 263.

3 This brief does not address the functional equivalent of the border analysis since the district court did not address it. See A. 219; see,

e.g., Almeida-Sanchez v. United States, 413 U.S. 266, 272 (1973) (noting that routine border search may take place not only at the

border but at its functional equivalent); United States v. Hill, 939 F.2d 934, 937 (11th Cir. 1991) (holding that functional equivalent

of the border requires: “1) reasonable certainty that the border was crossed; 2) no opportunity for the object of the search to have

changed materially since the crossing; and 3) the search must have occurred at the earliest practical point after the border crossing”).

4 The facts are taken from the district court's findings of fact, unless otherwise noted.

5 The Akwesasne Mohawk Reservation extends from Quebec to Ontario. A. 216 n.2. The SRMPD police the United States side of the

reservation and the Akwesasne Mohawk Police police the Canadian side. A. 72.

2 Although the record does not reflect exactly how long Wilson was in Canada, the district court noted that Wilson left and reentered

the United States “within a short time frame.” A. 223.

6 Sgt. Matthew Rourke and Inv. Peter Barnes-Cooke are police officers for the St. Regis Mohawk Tribal Police Department. A. 218,

222; see A. 50-51. They are police officers under New York law. N.Y. Indian Law § 114(2); N.Y. Crim. Proc. Law § 1.20(34)(u). Sgt.

Rourke is also a designated Customs Officer with the Department of Homeland Security U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement

(ICE), pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1401(i). A. 219; see A. 46. (The authority of the Secretary of the Treasury under 19 U.S.C. § 1401(i)

to designate customs officers has been delegated to the Secretary of Homeland Security. Appendix to 19 CFR Part 0 -- Treasury

Department Order No. 100-16).

7 However, Sgt. Rourke testified at the hearing that some people consider the Bombay Triangle to be part of the Reservation and others

do not, and that a federal land claim lawsuit is pending. A. 131-35, 142-43.

8 As set forth more fully in the government's briefs in St. Regis Mohawk v. State of New York, 82-cv-783 (N.D.N.Y.), the St. Regis

Mohawk Reservation described in the Treaty with the Seven Nations of Canada, 7 Stat. 55 (1796), constituted a rectangle stretching

from the St. Lawrence River along the north to the Franklin County/St. Lawrence County line to the south. Once an Indian reservation

is established, “only Congress can divest a reservation of its land and diminish its boundaries.” City of Sherrill v. Oneida Indian

Nation, 544 U.S. 197, 215 n. 9 (2005) (quoting Solem, 465 U.S. at 470)). A reservation “retains its reservation status until Congress

explicitly indicates otherwise.” Solem, 465 U.S. at 470; see also Rosebud Sioux Tribe v. Kneip, 430 U.S. 584, 586-87 (1977); see,

e.g., Oneida Indian Nation of New York v. City of Sherrill, 337 F.3d 139, 156 (2d Cir. 2003) (holding that historic Oneida Reservation

remained intact), rev'd on other grounds, City of Sherrill, 544 U.S. at 215 n. 9.

9 The New York State Police and the SRMPD have concurrent jurisdiction over crimes on the Reservation. 25 U.S.C. § 232.

10 If they had waited two minutes longer, Wilson would have been back on the Reservation. A. 218 n.10; see A. 137.

11 Section 1401(i) defines a “customs officer” to include “any agent or other person . . . designated by the Secretary of the Treasury

to perform any duties of an officer of the Customs Service.”

12 Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).
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13 The government called Moore to the district court's attention in its motion for reconsideration. A. 225.

14 The applicable regulations specify that “[v]ehicles may arrive in the U.S. only at a designated port of entry . . . or Customs station if

the Commissioner of Customs, or his designee authorizes entry at that station. . . .” 19 C.F.R. § 123.1(b).

15 In the district court the government cited to § 1433, and referred to Wilson's entry as illegal, without citing to § 1436. A. 42, 203-04;

see A. 96. While the government's pleadings state that all persons arriving into the United States have to report to the nearest port of

entry, A. 38, 203-04, as Agent Whitling testified at the suppression hearing, under § 1433, vehicles must enter the United States at a

port of entry. A. 95-96. Thus, under § 1433 the person in charge of a vehicle is required to enter the United States at a port of entry;

under § 1459(c), persons who have arrived in a vehicle that has not reported under § 1433(b) “shall immediately notify a customs

officer and report their arrival, together with appropriate information concerning the conveyance on or in which they arrived, and

present their property for customs examination and inspection.”

16 Section 1.20(34) lists persons who are police officers, and includes in subsection (u) “[p]ersons appointed as Indian police officers

pursuant to section one hundred fourteen of the Indian law.”

17 While the district court declined to otherwise consider the lawfulness of the stop and search, both were clearly lawful under its factual

findings. A. 216-18. This Court generally refrains from “analyzing issues not decided below,” but does have “the authority to decide

issues that were argued but not reached by the district court.” Hartford Courant Company v. Pellegrino, 380 F.3d 83, 90 (2d Cir.

2004). Moreover, as this Court has held, a remand to the district court “serves no useful purpose” when the facts “admit[ ] only a

single resolution of the controlling issue.” Reynolds v. Guiliani, 506 F.3d 183, 197 (2d Cir. 2007); see, e.g., United State v. Dhinsa,

171 F.3d 721, 726 (2d Cir. 1999) (reversing order suppressing evidence when the district court applied an incorrect legal standard;

the officers' observed traffic violation legitimated the stop).

18 Section 402(1)(b) requires that license plates “be kept clean and in a condition so as to be easily readable.” A violation of this section

is punishable by a fine. N.Y. Veh. & Traf. Law § 402(8). See, e.g., People v. Brooks, 23 A.D. 3d 847 (2005) (finding that vehicle's

obscured license plate provided probable cause for a stop).

19 Although the government below argued that the stop was lawful based upon reasonable suspicion, in fact there was probable cause

because the officers saw the obstructed license plate; in any event, either reasonable suspicion or probable cause is sufficient.

Harrison, 606 F.3d at 45; Stewart, 551 F.3d at 191.
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